RECEIVED

01-31-2017

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

Appeal No. 2016AP2438 CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

VS.

SCOT ALAN KRUEGER,

Defendant-Appellant

APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND SENTENCE, ENTERED IN THE DODGE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE BRIAN A. PFITZINGER PRESIDING.

DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND APPENDIX

ZALESKI LAW FIRM Steven W. Zaleski State Bar No. 1034597 10 E. Doty St., Ste. 800 Madison, WI 53703 608-441-5199 (Telephone), Zaleski@Ticon.net Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUE PRESENTED

Did Krueger establish a prima facie case that he was denied his right to counsel in connection with a prior OWI conviction such that the prior conviction should not have been used against him for sentence enhancement purposes?

The trial court answered: no.

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Counsel would welcome oral argument should this Court determine that such argument would be helpful in addressing the issues presented in this brief.

Counsel believes that publication will not be warranted as this appeal involves the application of well-established law to a specific set of facts.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State charged Krueger with operating a motor vehicle while under the influence of an intoxicant. Ap.100-107. The criminal complaint alleged that Krueger had been previously been convicted of two other OWI offenses, one in 1989 and one in 1993, thereby making the offense at issue in this case an OWI 3rd. Ap.101.

Kruger filed a motion seeking to exclude the 1993 conviction for purposes of sentencing enhancement. Ap.107. The trial court denied the motion. Krueger then entered a plea of no contest to the offense as alleged. At sentencing, the trial court withheld sentence and placed Krueger on probation for a period of 18 months with conditions to include 24 days in jail, and a fine and costs totaling \$3048. Ap.110-112. Krueger timely filed a notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief. Krueger also filed a motion for release on bond pending postconviction relief. The trial court denied the motion. Krueger appealed to this court the trial court's order denying release on bond pending postconviction relief. This court denied Krueger's motion. Krueger filed a notice of appeal pursuant to which these proceedings follow.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Facts pertaining to motion and affidavits

Krueger's "Motion To Bar Consideration Of April 21, 1993 Conviction"

alleged as follows:

[i]n the case resulting in conviction, Mr. Krueger had the constitutional right to an attorney, was not represented by an attorney, and did not validly waive his right to an attorney. Ap.107.

In support of the motion, Krueger submitted two affidavits, one signed by

himself and one signed by trial counsel. Krueger's affidavit asserted as

follows:

- 1. I am the Defendant in this case.
- 2. I make this affidavit in support of the Defendant's Motion To Bar Consideration of Prior Conviction.
- 3. I recall being charged and convicted of an operating while intoxicated offense in Dodge County Circuit Court on April 21, 1993. I was not represented by an attorney at any time in the proceedings.
- 4. At the time of the above conviction, I did not understand the difficulties and disadvantages of proceeding without an attorney, and I was not aware that an attorney could be appointed to represent me if I could not afford one.
- 5. At no time during the above mentioned case was I advised by the judge or anyone else in the proceeding, of the difficulties and disadvantages of proceeding without an attorney, nor that an attorney could be appointed to represent me if I could not afford one. Ap.108.

Trial counsel's affidavit asserted as follows:

- 1. I am the attorney for the Defendant in this case.
- 2. I make this affidavit in support of the Defendant's Motion to Bar Consideration of Prior Conviction.
- 3. I requested a records check with the Dodge County Clerk of Courts regarding the Defendant's April 21, 1993 conviction for Operating While Intoxicated. I was informed by that office that the court records had been destroyed, and that determination of the identification of the court reporter at the time of the Plea and Sentencing could not be done. Therefore, no transcript of the plea and sentencing is available. Ap.109.

Facts pertaining to testimony in support of motion

Krueger testified in support of the motion. Krueger recalled being convicted of the 1993 offense and receiving a 30 day jail sentence. Ap.113. Krueger did not have a lawyer when he went to court. Ap.113. He recalled having the criminal complaint read to him and entering a plea of no contest. Ap.114. Prior to the 1993 case, Krueger had been charged with one other OWI case. Ap.114. Krueger did not have a lawyer for that case either. Ap.114. At the time of his 1993 case, Krueger worked in a factory. Ap.115. He was not aware that an attorney could have been appointed for him if he was not able to afford one. Ap.115. Since the 1993 case, Krueger had two other criminal OWI charges brought against him including the present case. Ap.124. By that point, Krueger was aware of how an attorney could help him and the advantages of having one. Ap.125.

On cross-examination, Krueger testified that he did not remember getting a copy of the criminal complaint only a "criminal report". Ap.117. Krueger learned the actual penalties that he faced by looking up the statutes. Ap.117. Krueger did not remember the name of the judge or which branch the case took place, only that it happened in the old courthouse. Ap.118. Had he been told that he had the right to speak to a lawyer, he probably would have done so. Ap.119. He would have pleaded not guilty and "got an attorney." Ap.118. Krueger would have discussed with the attorney what his options were and what the attorney thought would have been best for him. Ap.120. It was five or ten years later that Krueger came to the conclusion that he would have proceeded differently. Ap.120. Krueger was 29 back in 1993. Ap.122. Prior to 1993, he had never consulted with an attorney. Ap.123. Other than the two prior OWI cases, Krueger only had received "seat belt tickets." Ap.128.

Facts pertaining to trial court's decision

The trial court concluded that Krueger had not established a prima facie case. Ap.129. In making such conclusion, the trial court found that Krueger's testimony had "no credibility." Ap.129. The trial court determined that Krueger's testimony lacked credibility because it did not comport with the trial court's recollection of how the Dodge County Circuit Court operated back in 1993. Ap.127. The trial court took judicial notice of "the court system," and stated "if I hold up (Krueger's) facts against... the facts as I know them...they're false." Ap.127. The trial court stated that it had "been kicking around this courthouse since 1988," Ap.127, and at that time, a Commissioner Olson conducted the initial appearances. Ap.126. The trial court stated that,

I know that Commissioner Olson had a colloquy with (individuals making first appearances), advised them of the charge, made sure that they had a complaint and went through their constitutional rights. I can tell you that because as I said, I sat through that. Ap.126.

The trial court similarly stated,

since 1988 every single judge in Dodge County has conducted a thorough plea colloquy with defendants. I know that because I sat through a zillion and a half of them. Ap.126.

The trial court further stated,

I mean I can remember it because I went to court a thousand times or more, actually more I'm sure, but, and sat through thousands of pleas in front of the three judges, Judge Schultz, Judge Wells, and I don't—actually and I think Judge Storck might have been on the bench in '93, that would make sense because—so he would have been the other judge, and but even if it was Judge Schultz, I'm pretty confident a colloquy was held. Ap.128.

The trial court further stated,

So I don't know what to do with this because he, first of all, says he didn't get a complaint, which I can assure you that Commissioner Olson, that was his marching orders from the judges, make sure they have their complaint and he reviewed it with them. And at that point I'm—I also know that he gave them their constitutional rights.

So I don't know what judge this was heard in front of but I can tell you that my experience is that all of them did a plea colloquy. Did they do one in this case? I don't know. I mean I don't have—there's no record. And this is, you know, the difficulty, but it would be the exception, not the rule. Ap.128.

The trial court denied Krueger's motion on the basis that Krueger had not

established a prima facie case. Ap.133.

ARGUMENT

Krueger established a prima facie case that he was denied his right to counsel in connection with the 1993 OWI conviction.

A. Standard of review and applicable law.

Both Article I, §7 of the Wisconsin Constitution and the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantee a defendant the right to counsel. See State v. Klessig, 211 Wis.2d 194, 201-202, 564 N.W.2d 716 (1997). "Whether a defendant knowingly, intelligently and voluntarily waived his right to counsel requires the application of constitutional principles to the We review de novo whether the constitutional facts." Id. at 204. requirements for waiver of counsel are meet. Id. A circuit court is required to undertake a colloquy with the defendant to ensure that the defendant knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waived his right to counsel. Id. at 206. Before accepting a waiver of the right to counsel, a circuit court must conduct a colloquy to ensure that the defendant "(1) made a deliberate choice to proceed without counsel, (2) was aware of the difficulties and disadvantages of self-representation, (3) was aware of the seriousness of the charge or charges against him, and (4) was aware of the general range of penalties that could have been imposed against him." Id. A defendant in an enhanced sentencing proceeding based on a at 206. prior conviction may collaterally attack the prior conviction only when the challenge is based on a denial of the constitutional right to counsel. State v. Ernst, 2005 WI 107, ¶22, 283 Wis.2d 300, 699 N.W.2d 92. First, the defendant must make a prima facie showing that his or her constitutional right to counsel was violated in the previous proceeding. Id. at ¶25. To do so, the defendant must point to "specific facts" demonstrating that he or she did not know or understand the information that should have been provided in the previous proceedings and, therefore, did not knowingly, intelligently and voluntarily waive his or her right to counsel. Id. at ¶25-26. If the defendant makes this prima facie showing, the burden shifts to the State to prove, by clear and convincing evidence, that the defendant's waiver of counsel was knowing, intelligent, and voluntary. Id. at ¶27. If the State fails to meet its burden, the defendant will be entitled to attack successfully and collaterally, his or her previous conviction. Id. A waiver of the right to counsel "will not be presumed from a silent record." See State v. Baker, 169 Wis.2d 49, 76, 485 N.W.2d 237 (1992). Courts are to "indulge in every reasonable presumption against waiver of counsel[.]" See id. at 76.

B. Krueger's affidavit and motion contained sufficient allegations to establish a prima facie case.

Krueger's motion asserted that he did not, in connection with the 1993 conviction, validly waive his right to an attorney. Ap.107. In support of such assertion, Krueger attached and incorporated his affidavit. Ap.108.

Krueger's affidavit alleged in relevant part as follows:

I recall being charged and convicted of an operating while intoxicated offense in Dodge County Circuit Court on April 21, 1993. I was not represented by an attorney at any time in the proceedings.

At the time of the above conviction, I did not understand the difficulties and disadvantages of proceeding without an attorney, and I was not aware that an attorney could be appointed to represent me if I could not afford one.

At no time during the above mentioned case was I advised by the judge or anyone else in the proceeding, of the difficulties and disadvantages of proceeding without an attorney, *nor that an attorney could be appointed to represent me if I could not afford one*. Ap.108. Italics added.

Krueger's affidavit satisfied the requirements imposed under **Ernst**. In particular, the affidavit pointed to "specific facts" demonstrating that Krueger did not know or understand information which should have been provided in the previous proceeding. Specifically, the affidavit asserted that Krueger was not aware that an attorney could be appointed to represent him if (he) could not afford one. The affidavit similarly asserted that he was not advised by the judge or anyone else in the proceeding that an attorney could be appointed to represent (him) if (he) could not afford one. In order to avoid any question concerning a valid waiver, "[t]he

record must show, or there must be an allegation and evidence which show, that an accused was offered counsel but intelligently and understandingly rejected the offer." State v. Ernst, 2005 WI 107 at ¶25. The record in this case fails to show that Krueger was offered counsel and that he rejected such offer. To the contrary, Krueger's affidavit sufficiently asserted that he was not aware that counsel could be appointed for him and that the trial court failed to inform him of such right. Such allegations alone sufficiently established a prima facie case under Ernst. The allegations however were underscored by other related allegations by Krueger. In this regard, the affidavit additionally asserted that Krueger did not understand the difficulties and disadvantages of proceeding without an attorney. The affidavit additionally asserted that at no time during the above mentioned case was (he) advised by the judge or anyone else in the proceeding, of the difficulties and disadvantages of proceeding without an attorney. While such allegations did not directly implicate the right to counsel, they did implicate the requirements imposed on trial courts by Klessig and support Krueger's position that the trial court did not provide to him information which should have been provided and which he otherwise did not know or understand.

While a plain reading of Krueger's affidavit demonstrates that it fell squarely within the requirements under **Ernst**, a review of relevant case law confirms that the affidavit made the requisite showing under Wisconsin In State v. Baker, 169 Wis.2d 49, 485 N.W.2d 237 (1992), the law. defendant moved to collaterally attack a previous conviction based on an alleged violation of his right to counsel. **Baker**, 169 Wis.2d at 76. Because the transcript of the earlier proceeding was "lost," the defendant relied on his own affidavit, in which he averred he "was unrepresented by counsel [in the earlier proceedings], and did not at any time affirmatively waive his right to counsel." Id. Based on these allegations, the supreme court concluded that the defendant made a prima facie showing that his right to counsel was violated. Id. In State v. Drexler, 2003 WI App 169, 266 Wis.2d 438, 669 N.W.2d 182, the defendant averred he was not informed during prior proceedings that "he could have the court appoint counsel for him if he could not afford counsel, and the state or county could be held responsible for paying the cost of appointed counsel." Id. at ¶10.

This court concluded that the defendant's affidavit was sufficient to establish a prima facie case of being denied the right to counsel. **Id**. If the

affidavits at issue in **Baker** and **Drexler** were sufficient to establish a prima facie case, so too was the affidavit here.

C. Krueger's testimony supported facts made in affidavit.

At the onset of the hearing on Krueger's motion, the trial court initially stated that it would presume that Krueger's affidavit established a prima facie case. 18:3-4. The State disagreed that the affidavit did so. 18:4-6. In the context of arguing over whether Krueger's affidavit established a prima facie case, the trial court stated, "[w]ell counsel, it's your burden, call your first witness." 18:8. Trial counsel called Krueger to testify. 18:8. The salient parts of Krueger's testimony are that he received a jail sentence of 30 days on the 1993 case and that he was not aware that an attorney could have been appointed for him if he was not able to afford one. Ap.115. Krueger also testified that prior to the 1993 case, he had been charged with one other OWI case and that he did not have a lawyer for that case either. Ap.114. Such testimony supported the allegations in Krueger's affidavit that he was not aware that an attorney could be appointed for him and that the trial court failed to inform him of such right. While Krueger's affidavit sufficiently established a prima facie case, his testimony solidified it.

D. Trial court considered improper factors in determining whether Krueger had established a prima facie case.

In concluding that Krueger had not established a prima facie case, the trial court found that Krueger's testimony had "no credibility." Ap.129. The trial court determined that Krueger's testimony lacked credibility because it did not comport with the trial court's recollection of how the Dodge County Circuit Court operated back in 1993. Ap.127. The trial court took judicial notice of "the court system," and stated "if I hold up (Krueger's) facts against... the facts as I know them...they're false." Ap.127. This manner of evaluating whether Krueger had established a prima facie was erroneous in two respects. First, as part of the prima facie showing, Krueger needed only point to "specific facts" demonstrating that he did not know or understand the information that should have been provided in the previous proceedings and, therefore, did not knowingly, intelligently and voluntarily waive his right to counsel. State v. Ernst, 2005 WI 107 at ¶25-26. As discussed earlier in this brief, Krueger did just this. He made the proper allegations. The trial court however rejected such allegations not because they were somehow deficient in their content but because the trial court did not believe them to be true. But Krueger's credibility and the veracity of his allegations did not factor into the prima facie inquiry. All that was necessary was for Krueger to make the requisite allegations. Once he did, the burden shifted to the State to prove by clear and convincing evidence that Krueger's waiver of counsel was knowing, intelligent, and voluntary, notwithstanding Krueger's allegations to the contrary. At such juncture, the trial court then could have properly made credibility determinations as part of its evaluation of whether the State had met its own burden. In essence, the trial court improperly placed upon Krueger a burden that should not have existed, one of persuasion, and relieved the State of its own burden, one both of persuasion and production of evidence. This was error. Equally if not more problematic was the mechanism employed by the trial court in summarily rejecting Krueger's allegations. The trial relied not on evidence produced by the State, indeed there was no such evidence, but upon its own, personal recollection of how the Dodge County court system functioned back in 1993. While acknowledging that it did not know whether a colloquy regarding the waiver of counsel took place or not, Ap.128, the trial court presumed that it did because the trial judge knew the

judicial officials who would have proceeded over Krueger's plea and knew how they would have conducted colloguys with defendants. Ap.125-129. The trial court further presumed that the colloquy would have been "thorough" because "since 1988 every single judge in Dodge County has conducted a thorough plea colloquy with defendants." Ap.126. This was improper. A trial court sitting as a fact-finder may not establish as an adjudicative fact that which is known to the judge as an individual. See State v. Peterson, 222 Wis.2d 449, 458, 588 N.W.2d 84 (Ct. App. 1998), citing Hoeft v. Friedli, 164 Wis.2d 178, 179, 473 N.W.2d 604 (Ct. App. 1991). In Peterson, the defendant was charged with various offenses after a boat he was operating collided with another boat killing one person and injuring another four. State v. Peterson, 222 Wis.2d at 452. Prior to trial, the defendant filed a motion to admit a videotape for the purpose of demonstrating to the jury the approximate conditions at the site of the collision immediately prior to the accident, including the visibility on the river at the time. Id. at 453. In denying the motion to admit the videotape, the trial court concluded in part that based on its own personal experience of being on the river at night, the videotape was not an accurate representation of what one could see on the river. Id. at 453. In particular,

16

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