STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV Case No. 2016AP2438-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,	RECEIVED
Plaintiff-Respondent, vs.	APR 1 7 2017
SCOT ALAN KRUEGER,	CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN
Defendant-Appellant.	
ON APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF CONVI ENTERED IN THE DODGE COUNTY CIRCUIT CO BRIAN A. PFITZINGER PRES	OURT, THE HONORABLE
BRIEF AND SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX OF THE	PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

YOLANDA J. TIENSTRA State Bar #1007456 Attorney for Plaintiff-Respondent

DODGE COUNTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY Dodge County Justice Facility 210 W. Center Street, 3rd Floor Juneau, WI 53039 (920) 386-3610

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiff-Respondent, the State of Wisconsin (hereinafter "the State"), points out that Scot Krueger (hereinafter "Krueger"), has incorrectly referred to the dates of his prior convictions. Other than that, the "Statement of the Case" as set forth by Krueger is accurate.

Krueger states that "(t)he criminal complaint alleged that Krueger had been previously convicted of two other OWI offenses, one in 1989 and one in 1993...". Krueger is in error in that he has provided the *violation* year for the first OWI conviction, and the *conviction* year for the second OWI conviction. The correct

dates are found on the second page of the criminal complaint, and are as follows (see R.1:2):

- Violation date 12/15/1989, conviction date 05/08/1991, and
- Violation date 08/30/1992, conviction date 04/21/1993.

This error does not affect the outcome of the appeal but is offered for the sake of accuracy and consistency.

ARGUMENT

The trial court correctly concluded that Krueger did not establish a prima facie case that he was denied his constitutional right to counsel in connection with his 1993 OWI conviction.

Krueger's affidavit asserted that the court that presided over his 1993 OWI conviction engaged in an inadequate plea colloquy. The pertinent portions of his affidavit consist of the following (R.17:2):

- ¶3. I recall being charged and convicted of an operating while intoxicated offense in Dodge County Circuit Court on April 21, 1993. I was not represented by an attorney at any time in the proceedings.
- ¶4. At the time of the above conviction, I did not understand the difficulties and disadvantages of proceeding without an attorney, and I was not aware that an attorney could be appointed to represent me if I could not afford one.
- ¶5. At no time during the above mentioned case was I advised by the judge, or anyone else in the proceeding, of the difficulties and advantages of proceeding without an attorney, nor that an attorney could be appointed to represent me if I could not afford one.

The State has no quarrel with paragraph #3.

но стануваний и при на применений при на применений пр

Paragraph 4 is completely devoid of facts that link the plea colloquy's alleged deficiencies to a conclusion that the deficiencies rendered Krueger's waiver of counsel unknowing, unintelligent, or involuntary.

Paragraph 5 is merely an allegation that the trial court did not follow the colloquy mandated by the Wisconsin Supreme Court in *State v. Klessig*, 211 Wis. 2d 194, 564 N.W.2d 716 (1997). As the Wisconsin Supreme Court clarified in *State v. Ernst*, 283 Wis. 2d 300, 699 N.W. 2d 92 (2005), the *Klessig* requirements are a "court-made procedural rule", but are not required by either the Wisconsin

Constitution or the United States Constitution. *Ernst* at 314-15, 99-100. The failure of a court to follow the *Klessig* requirements does not, in and of itself, entitle a defendant to relief via collateral attack.

Despite the skimpy, bare-bones assertion contained in Krueger's affidavit, and the State's protestations that the affidavit was inadequate to make a prima facie showing, the circuit court granted a hearing and allowed Krueger to attempt to supplement his affidavit with testimony. Being granted a hearing, however, is not the equivalent of establishing a prima facie showing that one's constitutional right to counsel was denied, certainly not when the testimony goes no further than to reiterate that the plea colloquy did not meet the requirements of *Klessig*.

At the hearing, while the burden of proof was on Krueger, he readily acknowledged that the trial court informed him of the nature of the charge (R.18:9, 13) and the range of penalties he faced (R.18:13). Specifically with regard to the right to counsel, however, he testified that it was not explained to him that he had the constitutional right to have a lawyer involved, that he did not know that he had a constitutional right to have a lawyer if he couldn't afford one, that he did not make contact with the public defender's office, and that he did not speak with any lawyer prior to going to court. (R.18:10). He went on to testify that he was unaware that if he could not afford an attorney, one might be appointed for him, and that he was unaware that he could ask the court to appoint an attorney. (R.18:11). With that, Krueger's testimony in response to the direct examination of his trial counsel was concluded.

The United States Supreme Court established in *Iowa v. Tovar*, 541 U.W.77, 124 S.Ct. 1379, 158 L.Ed.2d 209 (2004) that the type of information Krueger alleged the court failed to give him is simply not constitutionally required. The *Tovar* court specifically held that "the Sixth Amendment right to counsel did not require the trial court, before accepting the defendant's waiver of counsel at a plea hearing, to give a rigid and detailed admonishment of the usefulness of an attorney, that an attorney may provide an independent opinion whether it is wise to plead guilty and that without an attorney the defendant risked overlooking a defense." The failure to advise Krueger as to the "difficulties and advantages of proceeding without an attorney", or "that an attorney could be appointed to represent (him) if (he) could not afford one" (R.17:2), if indeed that happened, simply does not rise to the level of depriving Krueger of his constitutional right to counsel.

The prosecutor then cross-examined Krueger. The State notes that the burden had not yet shifted to the State; the burden was still on Krueger to make a prima facie showing that he had not knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waived his constitutional right to counsel. This was made clear in an exchange between the

prosecutor and the court at R.18:22. The significant portions of Krueger's testimony on cross-examination were as follows:

- Krueger was asked if he received a copy of the criminal complaint. He answered "police report". (R.18:12). He testified that he could not recall receiving a copy of the charging document. (R.18:14).
- Krueger said he had no contact with the prosecuting attorney (R.18:12), but acknowledged that there was a "county representative....a district attorney, assistant district attorney" in the courtroom (R.18:13).
- Krueger testified that there was no hearing, but he acknowledged that "we went to the judge and they asked me how I pled", and that this took place in a courtroom. (R.18:12).
- Krueger testified that he remembered "coming to court, being read the charges, asking how (he) pled and that was it" (R.18:15).

It is readily apparent that Krueger's testimony did not materially add to his affidavit. He failed to make factual connections between the alleged colloquy deficiencies and how they led to his entry of an unknowing, unintelligent, or involuntary plea.

The Wisconsin Court of Appeals has, on numerous occasions, addressed the quantum of proof that is required for a defendant who is collaterally attacking a prior conviction to meet his burden of proof. A very recent case is *State v. Seward*, Appeal No. 2016AP1248-CR. This is an unpublished decision, and is cited for its persuasive value. The relevant statements in Seward's affidavit were as follows, ld at 3-4:

- (1) "I was never advised of and I did not know or understand the difficulty or disadvantage of proceeding without counsel."
- (2) Prior to his 2006 court proceeding, "I had never been involved in the court system."
- (3) "The court never advised me that there might be an advantage to having an attorney, nor did the court advise me that it might be difficult to proceed without counsel."

• (4) "Because I had never been involved in the criminal system before, I did not know or understand the difficulty or disadvantage of proceeding without an attorney."

Seward's affidavit is quite similar to Krueger's affidavit. Both affidavits are, in essence, complaints that the *Klessig* colloquy was not followed. Both affidavits proclaim that the defendant did not understand "the difficulties and disadvantages of proceeding without an attorney", (R.17:2). But as pointed out in *State v Seward*:

This factual averment is headed in the right direction, but is still not enough to trigger a Sixth Amendment violation. Seward can arguably make a prima facie showing by averring that he did not "understand the role counsel could play in the proceeding." State v. Gracia, 2013 WI 15, ¶36, 345 Wis. 2d 488, 826 N.W.2d 87 (quoting State v. Schwandt, No. 2011AP2301-CR, unpublished slip op. ¶ 14 (WI App May 16, 2012)). However, the lesson of Ernst is that bare assertions of Klessig deficiencies are not enough. There must be factual connections made between the deficiencies in the colloquy and why that rendered the waiver unknowing, unintelligent, or involuntary. Seward still must point to "specific facts" indicating he did not knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waive his right to counsel. Ernst, 283 Wis. 2d 300, ¶26. A conclusory statement that Seward did not understand the advantages of counsel and the disadvantages of proceeding pro se—without identifying what he did not know or understand—is not enough. See State v. McGee, No. 2010AP3040-CR, unpublished slip op. ¶¶ 9-10 (WI App Apr. 26, 2011) (holding that the assertion a defendant "did not understand the difficulties and disadvantages of self-representation" without the support of "specific facts or examples" did not state a prima facie case); see also State v. Reggs, No. 2013AP2367-CR, unpublished slip op. ¶¶11-12 (WI App July 3, 2014) (holding a defendant failed to make a prima facie showing because his affidavit was "not sufficiently specific"); State v. Bowe, No. 2013AP238-CR, unpublished slip op. ¶ 14 (WI App Sept. 17, 2013) (concluding that a defendant failed to make a prima facie showing because he "made no specific averments regarding what he did not know or understand").

State Of Wisconsin, Plaintiff-Respondent, v. Matthew A. Seward, Defendant-Appellant., No. 2016AP1248-CR, 2017 WL 1115277, at 4 (Wis. Ct. App. Mar. 22, 2017)

Like so many other defendants, Krueger's affidavit was "headed in the right direction", but it fails simply because it did not go beyond the bare assertion that the trial court failed to adhere to *Klessig*. Failure to conduct a plea colloquy in accordance with *Klessig*, in and of itself, does not establish a constitutional defect, and only a constitutional defect is sufficient to grant the relief Krueger seeks. The Wisconsin Supreme Court made this abundantly clear in *State v. Ernst*, wherein the Court ruled as follows:

For there to be a valid collateral attack, we require the defendant to point to facts that demonstrate that he or she "did not know or understand the information which should have been provided" in the previous proceeding and, thus, did not knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waive his or her right to counsel. See Hampton, 274 Wis.2d 379,¶ 46, 683 N.W.2d 14 (citing Bangert, 131 Wis.2d at 274-75, 389 N.W.2d 12). Any claim of a violation on a collateral attack that does not detail such facts will fail.

State v. Ernst, 2005 WI 107, ¶ 25, 283 Wis. 2d 300, 318-19, 699 N.W.2d 92, 101.

Krueger cites to *State v. Baker*, 169 Wis.2d 49, 485 N.W.2d 237 (1992) for support for his contention that his affidavit was sufficient. Krueger's reliance on *Baker* is misplaced. The manner in which the Wisconsin Supreme Court decided *Baker* was found to be incorrect by the U.S. Supreme Court in *Custis v. United States*, 511 U.S. 485, 114 S.Ct. 1732, 128 L.Ed.2d 517 (1994), was disapproved of in *State v. Drexler*, 266 Wis. 2d 438, 669 N.W.2d 182, (also cited by Krueger to bolster his contention), and overruled in *State v. Hahn*, 238 Wis. 2d 889, 618 N.W. 2d 528 (2000).

State v. Baker. Baker had been convicted of operating a motor vehicle with a revoked operating privilege on four prior occasions and faces six months to a year of imprisonment if convicted of a fifth offense. Baker objected to two of his prior offenses being considered at sentencing. In the first case, he had not appeared in court; instead, an attorney entered a plea on his behalf. In the second case, the court records had been destroyed and there was no evidence to indicate whether he had been represented by counsel. Baker swore in an affidavit that he had not been represented by counsel and had not waived that right. On appeal, the Court of Appeals held that the first conviction should be disregarded on grounds that with only his attorney in court in his stead, there was no evidence that Baker "knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently" waived his right to trial (emphasis added) when entering his plea. The Court of Appeals upheld counting the second conviction because it found Baker's self-serving affidavit to be insufficient evidence of a constitutional violation by the trial court (which it presumed had acted constitutionally). The Wisconsin Supreme Court held that defendants could collaterally attack prior convictions for any alleged violation of the defendant's constitutional rights in the prior proceeding and upheld the lower courts' decision to exclude evidence of the first challenged OAR conviction (in which the attorney had entered the plea on the defendant's behalf). The Court also established a mechanism for weighing evidence in collateral attack cases and, applying that rule, concluded that Baker had met his burden of proof to collaterally attack the second conviction. This was done without any discussion of the content of Baker's affidavit or what facts were set forth in it. The Court then stated that, given Baker's affidavit, the state had the burden of proving that

Baker knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently waived his right to counsel and held that the state had not met that burden. (*Baker* at 78.)

Custis: Two years later, in Custis v. United States, 511 U.S. 485 (1994), the U.S. Supreme Court expressly limited applicability of collateral attack to cases in which a defendant was denied his right to counsel (emphasis added). Custis attempted to collaterally attack some prior convictions on the basis that his counsel was ineffective and that therefore his constitutional right effective counsel had been abridged. The U.S. Supreme Court rejected his appeal and held that a defendant could not collaterally attack a prior conviction on that ground or on any constitutional ground other than the failure to provide counsel. Thus the U.S. Supreme Court essentially ruled that the Wisconsin Supreme Court's decision in Baker was wrongly decided.

Hahn: The Wisconsin Supreme Court corrected its decision in Baker in State v. Hahn, 238 Wis. 2d 889, 618 N.W. 2d 528 (2000). Hahn, like Baker, alleged that prior to entering a plea in a prior conviction that was being considered for sentence enhancement purposes, he had not "knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently" entered his plea because the circuit court never informed him of collateral consequences that could result from the plea. Relying on the Baker Hahn collaterally attacked that prior conviction. Supreme Court used Hahn as an opportunity to correct and reverse its mistake in Baker, and overruled Baker. The Court limited collateral attacks on prior convictions to cases involving the deprivation of the right to counsel. The Court stated that "in an enhanced sentence proceeding predicated on a prior conviction, the U.S. Constitution requires a trial court to consider an offender's allegations that the prior conviction is invalid only when the challenge to the prior conviction is based on the denial of the offender's constitutional right to a lawyer." (Hahn at ¶17).

Drexler: Within the context of a fourth offense OWI, Drexler argued that his second offense OWI should not be counted because the trial court "failed to advise him that he had the right to counsel appointed by the court and paid for by the county, even though he did not qualify for counsel provided by the state public defender." State v. Drexler, 266 Wis. 2d 438, 442, 669 N.W.2d 182, 184. While true that the trial court did not go into that amount of detail regarding counsel, the Court of Appeals held that:

a trial court does not err if it does not advise the defendant of the variety of sources for appointed counsel and the variety of sources for reimbursement of counsel. A trial court is only obligated to advise a defendant of the right to counsel; it is not required to conduct a colloquy before accepting a waiver of counsel that includes specific advice to a defendant that the right to appointed

counsel includes the right to counsel appointed by the court and paid for by the county. State v. Drexler, 266 Wis. 2d 438, 451, 669 N.W.2d 182, 188 (2003).

Krueger also relies upon *Drexler*, but *Drexler* does not help him in the least. Even if the trial court did not advise Krueger of the variety of sources for counsel, this was not a constitutional error and does not strengthen his affidavit.

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